
[image: Cover: Fat Leonard: How One Man Bribed, Bilked, and Seduced the U.S. Navy, by Craig Whitlock. Author of The Afghanistan Papers.]




Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Get a FREE ebook when you join our mailing list. Plus, get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster. Click below to sign up and see terms and conditions.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.








[image: Fat Leonard: How One Man Bribed, Bilked, and Seduced the U.S. Navy, by Craig Whitlock. Simon & Schuster. New York | London | Toronto | Sydney | New Delhi.]






For my parents,

Robert and Marion Whitlock,

with love and gratitude






It is by no means enough that an officer of the Navy should be a capable mariner. He must be that, of course, but also a great deal more. He should be as well a gentleman of liberal education, refined manners, punctilious courtesy, and the nicest sense of personal honor.

—“Qualifications of a Naval Officer,” compiled by Augustus C. Buell from letters written by John Paul Jones

Midshipmen are persons of integrity. They stand for that which is right. They tell the truth and ensure that the truth is known. They do not lie…. They do not cheat…. They do not steal.

—From the Naval Academy Honor Concept







Chain of Command

Commissioned U.S. Navy officers on active duty, 2023

Promotion for the lowest ranks is swift and nearly automatic. Competition becomes progressively tougher after that. Only a handful make it to admiral.
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*Includes warrant officers and U.S. Naval Academy midshipmen

Illustration by Kevin Uhrmacher







Ships of the Seventh Fleet

The U.S. Seventh Fleet has about sixty ships and submarines deployed in the Western Pacific and Indian Ocean. Here are examples of three classes of ships that Leonard Francis’s company serviced in ports in Asia.
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Prologue

September 2022

SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA

It shouldn’t have been so easy for a morbidly obese, fifty-seven-year-old felon with two bad knees and kidney cancer to escape federal detention and flee the country. But early Sunday on Labor Day weekend, while nobody was paying attention, Leonard Glenn Francis seized his chance. Having bought off his lone security guard, he cut off the GPS tracking device strapped around his ankle, waddled outside, and climbed into an Uber. About twenty minutes later, he arrived at the Mexican border crossing near Tijuana. By the time the U.S. Marshals Service and the San Diego police realized he was missing, he was on his way to Cuba.

The fugitive wanted posters that appeared a few days later described Francis as an Asian man with black hair and brown eyes, standing well over six feet tall. But his most distinguishing features were his weight—350 pounds—and his nickname, “Fat Leonard.”

His crimes: bribing scores of military officers, bilking millions of dollars from defense contracts, and paralyzing the U.S. Navy in one of the worst public corruption scandals in American history.

Federal authorities had gone to extreme lengths to lock Francis up, luring him to California from his base in Southeast Asia in a sting involving dozens of law enforcement agents. After his arrest, however, Francis gradually lulled the Justice Department, a federal judge, and other gullible U.S. officials into lowering their guard. People in the Navy had always belittled him as Fat Leonard because he was grossly overweight and wheezed as he walked. But his size masked his cunning intellect and disarming persona. He could literally charm the pants off an admiral.

His farcical escape belied the irony that the Navy had long depended on Francis for its own security and sustenance. He owned Glenn Defense Marine Asia, a Singapore-based company that held more than $200 million in defense contracts to resupply U.S. warships and submarines at almost every port in the Western Pacific. In naval jargon, he was a husbanding contractor: a maritime fixer who provided harbor protection, tugs, barges, cranes, food, fresh water, sewage collection, and anything else a nuclear-powered aircraft carrier might need.

For twenty-five years, Francis and Glenn Defense played a critical role supporting the Navy’s Seventh Fleet, which ruled the Western Pacific and most of the Indian Ocean with about sixty ships and submarines, two hundred aircraft, and forty thousand sailors and Marines. The Navy’s biggest forward-deployed fleet, it guaranteed freedom of navigation through the world’s busiest shipping lanes and served as the United States’ front line of defense against threats from China, Russia, and North Korea.

In partnering with the Seventh Fleet, Francis perfected a simple but successful business model: He showered Navy officials with gifts and temptations so they would look the other way while Glenn Defense defrauded the federal government. During port visits, the company reaped millions of dollars in illicit profits by overcharging the Navy for virtually everything its ships and crews consumed.

Navy officers knew Francis was cheating Uncle Sam but became mesmerized by his opulent lifestyle and wanted a taste for themselves. When their ships arrived in port, they usually found him smiling on the pier in his Rolls-Royce or armored stretch Hummer, waiting to show them a good time. He treated admirals and ship captains to champagne-drenched feasts at the finest restaurants in Hong Kong, Jakarta, Singapore, Tokyo, and other cities, dropping $30,000 or more on a single meal.

His most effective bribes were his legendary sex parties. He assembled an armada of prostitutes to entertain Navy officers in Pacific ports from Vladivostok to Sydney, flaunting his VIP status at sex clubs and karaoke bars in Bangkok, Bali, Phuket, and Kuala Lumpur.

Francis’s talents as a world-class con artist made him a formidable spy. Had he worked for a foreign power, he would have ranked among the most successful practitioners of espionage in modern history. He recruited a network of moles inside the Navy by targeting officers with personal insecurities, strained marriages, drinking problems, or other vices and vulnerabilities. “Every sailor has a weakness somewhere,” he boasted.

Once he reeled them in with sex, booze, cash, and free travel, he expected favors in return. Deferentially addressing him as “Boss,” his Navy quislings fed him dirt on his enemies and rigged multimillion-dollar husbanding contracts to his benefit.

Francis’s moles included ten Navy officers who betrayed their country by leaking him classified material, a breathtaking security breach that made a mockery of the Navy’s counterintelligence defenses. For seven years, his moles fed him military secrets about U.S. ship and submarine movements in the Pacific, highly sensitive information that he exploited for profit.

His informants also helped him run circles around the watchdog agencies that were supposed to protect the Navy from fraudsters and thieves. He neutered the Naval Criminal Investigative Service (NCIS), the Navy’s television-famous law enforcement arm, by befriending agents and bribing one of the service’s rising stars to leak him investigators’ case files. He thwarted twenty-seven criminal investigations of his company before he was finally caught.

James Maus, a Navy officer who served thirty years in uniform and became Francis’s nemesis, said the uneducated Malaysian—Francis was a high school dropout—was smarter than anyone he ever met.

“The Soviets couldn’t have penetrated us better than Leonard Francis,” Maus said. “He’s got people skills that are off the scale. He can hook you so fast that you don’t see it coming.” Maus added: “At one time he had infiltrated the entire leadership line. The KGB could not have done what he did.”

Francis’s arrest triggered panic in the corridors of the Pentagon. Many of the Navy’s senior leaders feared their friendships with him would be exposed. More than ninety admirals came under investigation for interacting with Francis or accepting his lavish dinners and gifts. Among them were the chief of naval intelligence, the commander of all U.S. military forces in the Pacific, the superintendent of the Naval Academy, and two admirals who had served as the chief of naval operations—the highest-ranking job in the service.

All told, nearly one thousand people were swept up in the investigation, including 685 U.S. servicemembers.

The Navy had long led the public to believe it was immune to such rot. In recruiting ads, the sea service cast itself as “A Global Force for Good” and trumpeted its “core values”—Honor, Courage, Commitment. Opinion surveys showed that Americans admired and trusted the military more than any institution. With their unblemished, dress-white uniforms, Navy officers carried a reputation for rectitude and the highest standards of character. Most admirals graduated from the venerable Naval Academy in Annapolis, Maryland, where midshipmen commit themselves to a lifetime of honesty and integrity.

While the majority of the 340,000 active-duty personnel in the Navy adhered to those values and served their country with dignity, Francis recognized that for a surprising number, particularly senior leaders, the honorable facade was a sham. The dirty secret was that the Navy tolerated—and promoted—toxic leaders, sexual harassers, flagrant adulterers, and serial liars. For Francis, those people made easy marks.

He exploited an unofficial Navy tradition that abided and even encouraged personal misbehavior as long as it happened far from home. The Navy had a history of letting sailors go wild during port visits after months at sea, especially in Asia. During the Cold War, a massive, legalized sex industry thrived at Subic Bay in the Philippines, home to the Navy’s largest overseas base until the early 1990s. Ports in Singapore, Malaysia, Thailand, Australia, and South Korea also provided U.S. sailors with endless opportunities for mischief. While senior officers were expected to set a sober example and stay away from brothels, Francis discovered that many would succumb to temptations if he provided them in a discreet, upscale setting.

Francis also exploited a culture of entitlement that infected parts of the U.S. military during the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan. Accustomed to civilians placing them on a pedestal in gratitude for their service, some Navy officers felt they were owed something extra. If a wealthy, patriotic businessman like Francis wanted to show his appreciation by buying them a bottle of Dom Pérignon or paying for a five-star hotel suite, what was the problem?

But the biggest factor enabling the Navy’s corruption was the dereliction of admirals who tolerated the graft and misconduct instead of treating it as an insidious threat. The gusher of gifts, perks, and extravagant parties was an open secret within the Seventh Fleet and at the Pentagon, even among commanding officers who kept their distance from Francis. Yet no one in a position of leadership had the courage to intervene or admit the Navy had a problem. Instead, the admirals abdicated their responsibility to protect the integrity of the institution and stymied the few who tried to stand up for what was right.



As an investigative reporter, I spent a decade digging into the Fat Leonard scandal. I wrote my first article about the case for The Washington Post in October 2013, soon after Francis’s arrest in San Diego. Over the next five years, I wrote more than fifty news articles about the criminal investigation, many on the Post’s front page. The more I reported, however, the more I realized the story was much bigger and more damning for the Navy than federal authorities were letting on. Fresh leads kept multiplying. I could barely keep track of all the crazy stories I heard about Francis’s exploits and the unbecoming conduct of Navy officers who pocketed his bribes.

The most important questions seemed obvious but proved difficult to answer. How could an obese Malaysian high school dropout seduce the leadership of the most powerful navy in the world? How had he gotten away with massive fraud for twenty years? Why had Navy leaders allowed such unlawful and disgraceful behavior to fester? I became convinced that the only way to get to the bottom of the story was to report and write a book.

Navy officials had zero interest in shedding light on the matter and disclosed almost nothing without a fight. Using the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), I filed dozens of public records requests and a federal lawsuit to pry loose documents, but the Navy slow-rolled my queries for years. Ultimately, it released more than three thousand pages of court-martial proceedings, contracting records, and disciplinary letters, but with most of the names and incriminating details blacked out. Eventually, the Navy grew tired of my questions and informed me in writing that it would no longer respond to my FOIA requests or release any new information.

I kept digging elsewhere and conducted more than 150 interviews. I mined federal and state courthouses, collecting more than thirty thousand pages of transcripts, exhibits, affidavits, warrants, and charging documents. I also obtained court and police records from Malaysia, Singapore, the Philippines, and Australia.

Finally, trusted sources gave me an enormous and invaluable trove of information: federal agents’ case files for the Glenn Defense investigation. Comprising several terabytes of data, the confidential case files contain notes of interviews with several hundred people and transcripts of interrogations of dozens of criminal suspects. Critically, the case files included investigators’ notes from more than three hundred hours of debriefings with Francis after his arrest. The cache also held millions of emails, text messages, photographs, hotel receipts, travel records, and dinner menus recovered from Francis’s electronic devices and his company’s computer server.

Combined with my other reporting, this mother lode of primary-source material helped me gain a full understanding of the scandal and write a narrative exposé of how Francis infiltrated the Navy. The consequences, and the Navy’s determination to bury its mistakes instead of learning from them, will haunt the service for years.

At a time when the public has become understandably skeptical of anonymous sources in the news media, it is important to emphasize that this book is based on official evidence and documents—most of which the Navy and Justice Department tried to keep secret—as well as on-the-record interviews. None of the dialogue is reimagined. Everything in quotation marks is exactly as people said it, based on contemporaneous audio recordings, notes, emails, and text messages. The source material and attributions are detailed in the Endnotes.

The story of Fat Leonard and the U.S. Navy may be mind-boggling, but every word is based on the facts.






Part One 1986–2005







Chapter One [image: ] A Good Whipping


April 1986

GEORGE TOWN, MALAYSIA

The Malaysian police assumed, with good reason, that Leonard Francis would spend much of his life behind bars. The evidence against the twenty-one-year-old hustler was undisputed. They had searched his house and found two unlicensed .38-caliber Smith & Wesson revolvers, fourteen rounds of ammunition, and a bulletproof vest stashed in his bedroom. Under Malaysia’s gun-control laws—among the toughest in the world—he faced mandatory prison time. In some cases, those convicted of firearms possession could be sentenced to death.

Detectives had nabbed Francis after receiving a tip that he was involved in the armed robbery of a moneylender. Though this was his first arrest, he was well known to the police. He stood out on the docks in George Town, where his family owned a security company that supplied watchmen to the shipping lines moving cargo through the nearby Strait of Malacca. Flashy and flamboyant, he wore oversized cowboy belt buckles, rode loud motorcycles, and frequented red-light districts near the harbor. Compared with other Malaysians, he looked like a giant: heavyset and six-foot-three-inches tall, with muttonchop sideburns and a bushy crown of jet-black hair.

Francis surrendered without incident when a police inspector found him on the street. He knew right away what the detective wanted. He had gotten mixed up with a loan shark and a crew of gangsters who enlisted him to drive the getaway car during a robbery. Unwisely, he had agreed to hide the loot and the guns in his bedroom. Now someone had ratted him out. “Dumb me,” he recalled years later. “Young dumb-dumb.”

His case made headlines in George Town, the biggest city on Penang, a steamy island of about 600,000 people off the western coast of the Malay Peninsula. Newspapers dubbed him “the burly businessman” and noted he came from a well-off family. Francis’s parents hired three prominent criminal defense attorneys to represent him, but given the clear evidence of his guilt, there was only so much they could do. After seventy-four days in jail, he took his lawyers’ advice and pleaded guilty to illegal possession of the guns and ammunition.

The plea deal spared him from the death penalty. But he still faced up to twenty-one years in prison and a whipping—a bloody lashing on the buttocks with a heavy rattan cane.

For the sentencing, Francis’s lawyers pinned their hopes on winning mercy from the judge, Madam Ho Mooi Ching, the president of the Sessions Court in George Town. Portraying their client as a hapless fall guy, they admitted he had fallen in with some “undesirable characters” but blamed the gangsters for coercing him to hide the guns from the robbery.

Francis’s mother, Felicia, also tried to deflect guilt from her son. In tearful testimony, she told the judge the whole mess was partly her fault because she had separated from her philandering husband but left Leonard behind. She explained that when Leonard was a teenager she’d allowed him to live with his father, hoping that it would discourage her estranged spouse from having affairs. But she said the arrangement only exposed Leonard to more immoral behavior.

A psychiatrist from Penang General Hospital emphasized other extenuating circumstances. The doctor, who had been hired by Francis’s parents, recommended to the court that Francis receive “prolonged” psychotherapy, not prison time, for undisclosed mental health issues. The doctor also urged the judge to spare the defendant a caning because he was overweight and suffered from a blood disorder.

Improbably, the bid for sympathy worked. Though the law called for mandatory prison time, the judge let Francis go free, sentencing him to probation, a fine—and no whipping. “I am giving him another chance,” she said, citing his young age, his admission of guilt, and the fact that he and his family had already suffered “public humiliation.”

The lenient sentence infuriated the police. Before Francis could walk out of the courthouse, they rearrested him and charged him with three fresh counts of robbery based on other crimes he and the gangsters were suspected of committing.

He was released on bond while his case bounced around the courts for the next three years. In 1989, an appellate court overruled Madam Ho, finding that her decision not to impose a prison sentence “cannot be justified either in law or on principle.”

Again, however, Francis got off easy. The appellate court ordered him to serve eighteen months and receive a “whipping with six strokes,” a relatively mild punishment for a gun crime in Malaysia. After spending about a year behind bars, he was released early for good behavior.

Even the whipping went better than expected. By coincidence, the Penang prison flogger attended the same church as the Francis family. He landed three blows with the rattan cane. But during the other three swings he somehow missed the prisoner’s posterior. Luckily for Francis, the whiffs counted anyway. Malaysian law did not mandate a do-over.

Through it all, Francis learned an important life lesson: With a little luck and the right connections, you could pretty much get away with anything.



Leonard Glenn Francis was born in George Town in October 1964, seven years after the Federation of Malaya achieved independence from Britain. Two centuries earlier, the British East India Company had established a trading outpost on Penang—the island derives its name from a native word for the betel nut—to export rubber and tin from plantations and mines on the Malay Peninsula. The monsoon-swept island attracted waves of immigrants and became home to a mélange of ethnicities: Malays, Chinese, and Indians, with European expatriates mixed in.

Francis’s roots extended in all directions. His paternal grandfather was a Scot who arrived in Malaya in the 1930s and managed a rubber plantation in the state of Perak. The Scotsman married a woman of Indian descent and fathered two sons and a daughter. When the Japanese invaded in 1941, he fled to Britain and left his wife and children behind.

After World War II, Francis’s father, Michael, joined the British Army while it was embroiled in a long fight with a communist-led insurgency in Malaya. In the early 1960s, he deployed to the British colony of Singapore, where he served as a military policeman rounding up drunken soldiers. There he fell in love with a teenage girl named Felicia Wisidagama, the daughter of a well-to-do Singapore family that traced its ancestry to Portuguese explorers and Tamil merchants from Ceylon, or present-day Sri Lanka.

The couple married and built a life on what appeared to be a solid foundation. Felicia’s father owned a firm that provided supplies and stevedores to cargo ships in Singapore. The company had a branch in Penang, about 370 miles away at the other end of the Strait of Malacca. Michael Francis seemed a natural choice to take over that part of the family business, so he and Felicia moved to George Town and raised a family: a girl and two boys. Leonard was the middle child and the eldest son.

Five degrees north of the equator, George Town was a seafaring city known for its colonial shophouse architecture and eclectic street food. Though Malaysia was predominantly Muslim, the Francises were Roman Catholic, and Leonard’s parents baptized him in the church. The family attended the majestic Cathedral of the Assumption, the oldest church in Penang. As a youngster, Leonard enrolled at St. Christopher School, a private academy that catered to the children of wealthy rubber planters.

Life in the household soon deteriorated. Michael Francis, a dour man, cheated on his wife and beat her and the children. In the early 1970s, Felicia moved out with Leonard and his siblings and returned to Singapore. “She was traumatized by my father,” Leonard recalled. “My father was very violent.”

In Singapore, then a city-state of 2.2 million people, Leonard attended private schools while living with his mother, siblings, grandparents, and cousins. By age thirteen he was already six feet tall and joined a team playing American-style football. By his account, he soaked up American culture but was “always messing around” and not interested in school.

Michael Francis remained in Penang to run his branch of the family business. He continued chasing women and the split with his wife widened. Around 1979, Felicia moved from Singapore to England. This time, she took her daughter, Anna, and her youngest son, Andre. But, in a decision that she’d regret, she allowed Leonard to go back to Penang to live with his adulterous father.

Leonard developed a love-hate relationship with his father, who was preoccupied with girlfriends and rarely at home. But Leonard saw both his parents as selfish. “My dad had his own thing. My mom had her own thing. So, everybody went their own way and just kind of left me in limbo,” he recalled. “I kind of found my own way on the streets. That’s why I became so street smart. I’m a survivor.”

As a teenager, Leonard often rode away on his bike and disappeared for long stretches. “My parents thought I was a pretty difficult child to manage,” he admitted. In an effort to teach him discipline, Leonard’s separated parents agreed to send him to the Uplands School, an international boarding school in Penang that had recently begun accepting day students. Many, like Leonard, came from mixed-race or multiethnic families. They wore school uniforms adapted to the local culture and climate: batik-print shirts and dark green pants, but no coats or ties.

As a ninth-grader, Leonard became chummy with two younger American-Malaysian boys, Jeff and Charles O’Neal. The O’Neals looked up to Leonard. He was popular and spent more time than most boys his age primping in front of a mirror in the school bathrooms. “He had a lot of personality,” Jeff O’Neal recalled. “He was a natural-born leader.”

It didn’t take long for Leonard to get into trouble. One weekend, he and a handful of boarding students at Uplands ventured off campus to party. The school principal found out. He suspended the boarders for violating curfew but expelled fifteen-year-old Leonard because he had illegally driven the group in his father’s car. (The minimum driving age in Malaysia was seventeen.)

The episode marked the end of Leonard’s formal education. Instead of enrolling at another school, he went to work full-time for his father at the family firm, Glenn Security Services. Though he was young, his imposing size made him a good fit for a company that guarded ships.

By all accounts, Leonard worked hard. He spent countless hours on Swettenham Pier, the shipping terminal on the northeast tip of Penang, where he helped provide security for renowned cruise ships such as the Pearl of Scandinavia, the Princess Mahsuri, and the Queen Elizabeth 2. But it was the cargo shipping lines, with their worldly captains and intrepid lifestyles, that fascinated him the most. He dreamed of becoming a Malaysian version of Aristotle Onassis, the playboy Greek shipping tycoon who won the heart of the widowed American first lady, Jacqueline Kennedy.

Leonard’s father lacked his son’s work ethic. “He was too busy womanizing to care about making more money,” Leonard recalled. And in contrast with his gregarious son, Michael Francis had a grumpy demeanor. Leonard’s friends called the old man “Gaddafi” behind his back because he reminded them of the grim-faced Libyan dictator.

Nonetheless, under Michael Francis’s leadership, Glenn Security Services built solid relationships with several shipping lines. Business was steady, if modest. But as Leonard learned on the job, he saw myriad other opportunities to make money. Merchant vessels needed water taxis to ferry their crews from ships at anchor, or barges and stevedores to transfer their cargo.

Michael Francis had no interest in expanding, but he didn’t object when his son pushed to branch out on his own. Leonard drew up the paperwork to start a new company, Glenn Marine Enterprise, of which he was the sole proprietor. He worked out of his dad’s office and borrowed his secretary, but he cut his own deals to sell victuals and cigarettes to cargo ships arriving from Europe, South America, and other far-flung places.

By his late teens, Leonard had already become known for his outsized personality and play-hard mentality. Deepening his fixation with American culture, he loved to dress up like Elvis and listen to Fleetwood Mac. He couldn’t watch enough of The Godfather, the epic film about an Italian American family of mobsters. He liked shiny things and bought a Kawasaki KZ1300 motorcycle. With a top speed of around 140 mph, the superbike was not only fast but weighed seven hundred pounds: sturdy enough to carry someone of Leonard’s stature.

“He had a taste for going big,” said Jeff O’Neal, who remained close with Leonard after he was expelled. And he was a charmer. Most respectable families would probably keep their distance from a motorcycle-riding delinquent, but according to O’Neal, Leonard “connected with people really well. It didn’t matter who it was. My dad was critical of my friends, but he liked Leonard.”

A night owl, Leonard partied in red-light districts near the waterfront, where he hung out with crewmembers from cargo vessels who regaled him with tales of their international adventures.

Penang’s nightlife also taught him beneficial lessons about mixing business with pleasure. When he was twenty, he purchased a dive bar in George Town and renamed it Tropicana, in homage to a famous nightclub of the same name in Singapore. Ship captains, after weeks at sea, gladly accepted his offers to get drunk and meet women, especially when he covered their bar bill or invited them to take a girl upstairs for a massage. To his delight, he discovered they would happily do him all sorts of favors in return.






Chapter Two [image: ] The Striver


May 1992

PENANG, MALAYSIA

The USS Acadia moored on the northeastern tip of Penang at Swettenham Pier with 1,300 sailors. Waiting eagerly was Leonard Francis, who wanted to dazzle his new American clients. In the two years since his release from prison, the twenty-seven-year-old Malaysian had revived his fledgling company, Glenn Marine Enterprise, and expanded its customer base. Besides merchant mariners passing through the Strait of Malacca, he had won a few small contracts from the U.S. Navy to resupply its ships with food, water, and other goods during their sporadic visits to Penang. If he could establish an enduring relationship with the Americans, Glenn Marine’s future would be bright.

Francis placed a premium on personal service and ensured that Acadia officers had a memorable time during their four-day port call. He invited Commander Harry Guess, the head of the ship’s supply department, and three female officers on his staff to a lobster dinner at Eden Seafood Village, a landmark Penang restaurant.I

Francis cut a vivid figure that evening, wearing sandals, a blue-and-yellow tropical print shirt, and a golden crucifix that dangled from a chain around his neck. While a band blasted tunes and waiters delivered platters of food, he plied his guests with drinks and cigars, and snapped photos of everyone having a grand time. To con them into thinking he was an American at heart—he certainly spoke like one, with no discernible accent—he told made-up stories about his college days at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, a school he’d never attended.

The forty-one-year-old Guess had never been taken to dinner by a husbanding contractor before. As the officer who signed the Acadia’s supply invoices, he knew he wasn’t supposed to accept freebies from someone who did business with the U.S. government, but the fun-loving Malaysian host insisted on paying. Afterward, Francis took the three female officers out for more drinks and karaoke at the Fun Pub at the Golden Sands Hotel and again covered the bill.

As Francis had intended, his hospitality left an indelible impression on the sailors far from home.

“Dear Leonard: This has been the best liberty port of the deployment, and that is only due to you!” Lieutenant Ruth Christopherson, an assistant supply officer, cooed in a handwritten thank-you note after the Acadia left Penang. “You are a wonderful person and a great friend. Thanks so much for everything. With Love, Ruth.”II

It was the start of a long and intimate relationship between Francis and the Navy. Over the next two decades, hundreds more officers—men and women alike—would become smitten.



The Acadia’s successful visit paid off for Francis right away. Later that month, a U.S. Marine Corps F/A-18 Hornet fighter jet crashed in a jungle on the east coast of Malaysia during a training mission. The pilot ejected safely, but his copilot was killed, and the Americans had trouble accessing the wreckage. Glenn Marine won another contract to help recover the aircraft.

The firm’s budding reputation for reliability emerged at the perfect time. The early 1990s marked a generational realignment of American military power in Asia. Since the end of World War II, the Navy’s operations in the Western Pacific had revolved around its huge base in the Philippines at Subic Bay. Covering 262 square miles—about four times as much territory as the District of Columbia—the base teemed with American and Filipino personnel, over 26,000 in total. Subic Bay enabled the Navy to maintain a formidable presence from the South China Sea to the Indian Ocean without its ships needing to travel thousands of miles to bases in Hawaii or California for supplies and repairs.

After failed negotiations to extend the U.S. lease on Subic Bay, however, the Philippines notified the United States in December 1991 that it would have to vacate the premises. The Navy relocated part of its fleet to Japan and began hunting for new places in Southeast Asia to use as rest stops.

The Navy had long-standing arrangements to make port calls in Thailand and Hong Kong, a British colony until 1997. Malaysia, Singapore, and Indonesia were willing, to varying degrees, to host American ships for brief visits. But the Navy also needed husbanding contractors in those countries to service its ships while in port.

Glenn Marine was one of the few Malaysian providers that had experience with foreign navies. Even before Francis absorbed his caning, he had eyed military contracts as a potential stream of revenue. In the mid-1980s, he opened a storefront office near a new Malaysian navy base in Lumut—halfway between Penang and Kuala Lumpur—hoping to win spillover business from visiting warships. Back then, the Glenn Marine office was so small that it shared a squat toilet with other shop tenants. But the location gave Francis a physical presence in a military town, and he won his first defense contract: a minor deal to sell food and water to the Ali Haider, a Bangladesh Navy frigate making a pit stop in Lumut.

More opportunities followed. Francis rented a refrigerated shipping container, stuffed it with provisions, and loaded it onto a fishing trawler to resupply navy ships from Malaysia, Britain, Singapore, and Australia when they conducted exercises in the South China Sea. He faced scant competition in what was then a niche market.

“It all just kind of fell in my lap because nobody offered the services,” Francis recalled. “Nobody wanted to do it. I did.”

To dispel concerns about his youth and inexperience, he advertised that Glenn Marine had been in business since 1946, implying it was the same firm his grandfather had started in Singapore after World War II. To add further seasoning to Glenn Marine’s reputation, he sometimes led people to believe his father was the owner.



By the early 1990s, Francis had grown from a burly businessman into a corpulent one, weighing well over three hundred pounds. But his flabby physique didn’t diminish his appetite for flirting and carrying on with women. After his stint in prison, he met and married Deanna Gonzales, a lounge singer from Manila. Their first child, Leonardo, was born in 1992. A second son, Marco, arrived two years later.

As a husband, Francis was unfaithful from the start, just like his father. After he expanded his business operations across the Strait of Malacca to Indonesia, he had an affair with a twenty-one-year-old woman named Rose who helped manage Glenn Marine’s branch office on the resort island of Bali. “I kind of got a liking to her and hooked up with her,” he recalled. “She was a smart girl.”

Francis targeted Bali figuring the Navy would find its bars and beaches irresistible for shore leave. Because the island’s facilities were inadequate for hosting warships, he partnered with local businessmen to build a jetty and a pier. The Navy took notice and started sending ships Francis’s way, though it wasn’t all smooth sailing at first. During a 1995 visit to Bali by the USS O’Brien, Francis almost drowned when he lost his footing in the surf while attempting to help sailors disembark from Glenn Marine’s water taxis.

Commander Tracy Brown, the supply officer for the USS Blue Ridge, the Seventh Fleet flagship, met Francis in 1995 when he traveled with an advance team to Port Klang, Malaysia—near the capital, Kuala Lumpur—to prepare for a port call. Francis picked up the officer at his hotel in a beat-up Mercedes with broken seats that looked as if they had been squashed on purpose so Leonard could fit in the car.

The Glenn Marine owner nonetheless impressed Brown as “a bend-over backwards type guy.” In fact, many Navy officers admired Francis for his work habits, even as they mocked his physical appearance behind his back. Some called him “Fat Bastard”—a reference to the vulgar, sumo-wrestler-sized character in the Austin Powers movies. But as his profile rose, “Fat Leonard” became his dominant nickname in the fleet.

Commander Brown, for his part, disapproved of other sailors making fun of Francis. He considered it disrespectful given how helpful Francis had been to the Blue Ridge crew. The Seventh Fleet commander, Vice Admiral Robert Natter, agreed. “Mr. Francis’s untiring devotion to United States Navy ship visits is sincerely appreciated,” he wrote in a 1997 thank-you letter after the Blue Ridge passed through Port Klang and Bali.

Whatever they thought of Francis, one thing many people in the Navy didn’t seem to mind was his habit of padding the bills. In Bali, Glenn Marine charged the U.S. government high prices to collect sewage from warships and then illegally dumped the wastewater to save money. As an inducement to look the other way while he cheated, Francis took Navy personnel to Bali’s tiki bars, karaoke joints, and massage parlors. Other times, his enticements were more flagrant. He bragged that he once handed a $20,000 bribe to a supply officer who walked away with the cash hidden under his hat.

As the Navy generated additional business for Glenn Marine, Francis saw the potential to lift his company to new heights and did everything he could to cultivate relationships with the Americans. Above all, he targeted young officers with bright career prospects and loose morals.

In 1997, the USS Boxer, an amphibious assault ship, made a port call to Bali. By then, Francis’s weight had ballooned to over four hundred pounds, so big that the crew helped him board the vessel by hoisting him up to the deck as if he were a piece of heavy equipment. “He was huger than huge then. He was enormous,” recalled Robert Gilbeau, who was a lieutenant commander at the time and the Boxer’s assistant supply officer.

In a perverse way, Francis’s heft enhanced his personal magnetism. Gilbeau, a Naval Academy graduate who would become an admiral, found he couldn’t look away.

One night, Gilbeau left the Boxer to meet Francis at a bar in Bali to pay some supply bills. He spotted the contractor relaxing in a lounge chair, surrounded by pillows and a harem of attractive women.

“Oh, sit, sit—spend some time!” Francis beckoned.

Gilbeau couldn’t resist. The two men began a friendship that would endure for sixteen years and bring unprecedented disgrace to the Navy.



Living alongside one of the most congested shipping lanes in the world, Malaysians saw just about everything pass by their shores: cargo vessels, oil tankers, cruise ships, fish factories, passenger ferries, tugboats, even pirate skiffs. In 1997, about three hundred ships a day transited the Strait of Malacca, the maritime highway connecting the Indian Ocean to the South China Sea. But Malaysians had never beheld anything like the colossal, flat-topped warship flying the American flag as it navigated a narrow channel to reach the northern wharves of Port Klang in late April.

The USS Independence, a steel-gray Forrestal-class aircraft carrier, stretched 1,070 feet from bow to stern, about as long as the height of the Eiffel Tower. A floating military base operated by five thousand sailors, the Independence could launch up to seventy-five aircraft: Tomcat and Hornet fighter jets; Viking and Hawkeye surveillance planes; Prowler electronic jammers; and Seahawk helicopters. Built in the 1950s, the conventionally powered carrier boasted a top speed of more than thirty knots, or about thirty-five miles per hour. The draft of its hull extended thirty-seven feet below the waterline, so deep that only a handful of harbors in Southeast Asia could swallow it.

The Independence’s four-day visit was the first by an aircraft carrier to Malaysia, and it created a popular sensation in Port Klang. The U.S. Navy expected a small crowd when it agreed to host an open house aboard the ship. Instead, about 100,000 people showed up, jamming roads leading to the harbor. Malaysians of all ages took the day off to see and touch the symbol of American military might, including ninety-four awestruck kindergarteners who toured a hangar deck and received their own briefing.

Amid the din on the pier, Francis shouted orders from a makeshift command center. Sitting underneath a tent canopy to block the tropical sun, he wore loose-fitting clothes and dripped with sweat as he surveyed the crowds. It was the first time the Navy had entrusted Glenn Marine with a contract for servicing a ship this big and he was feeling the pressure.

Commander Jim Maus, the Independence’s supply officer, wasn’t sure whether the young Malaysian was up to the job. From the ship, Maus watched as Francis parked himself in an enormous chair under his tent. It “was almost comical how big it was,” Maus recalled. “He looked like Jabba the Hutt sitting out there.” A lanky officer from Northern California, Maus had served two decades in the Navy and dealt with all sorts of husbanding contractors. But he soon discovered Francis was one of a kind.

As the supply officer, Maus led the biggest department on the ship, with a $100 million annual budget. More than 550 officers and enlisted sailors reported to him. He was responsible for meeting the carrier’s massive logistical requirements: stores of food and fresh water, hardware inventories, plus replacement parts for the ship’s mechanical systems and warplanes. He had no say into which husbanding companies the Navy hired, but he was the one who dealt with the contractors in person. He was also responsible for paying the ship’s expenses while in port, which could run more than $100,000 a day. If anything went awry—if the garbage barge didn’t show up, if the gangways didn’t fit—Maus caught flak.

Francis had impressed Maus—at first. Four months earlier, the Glenn Marine owner had traveled 3,300 miles from Malaysia to the U.S. Navy base in Yokosuka, Japan, the home port for the Independence and the rest of the Seventh Fleet. Without an appointment, he boarded the ship and asked to see Maus so he could introduce himself. The supply officer was floored. No husbanding contractor had ever taken initiative like that before. “The guy was unbelievably charming,” Maus said.

On a ship engineered to maximize every square inch of space, Francis literally struggled to fit in. The width of the passageways between the bulkheads narrowed to twenty-six inches in places and the obese Malaysian could barely squeeze through. Still, he didn’t shy away. Three months later, he showed up unannounced again—this time while the Independence was visiting Perth, on the remote western coast of Australia. Francis said he just wanted to touch base before the ship’s next stop in Malaysia, 2,600 miles away. “I was thinking, ‘Wow, this guy is really prepared for us,’ ” Maus said. “He didn’t mess around.”

Once the aircraft carrier reached Port Klang, however, Francis and his staff labored to prove themselves. Glenn Marine delivered pallets of stale bread and bungled the job of providing ground transportation for the crew. Because Port Klang was an industrial zone, Maus had requested a fleet of buses so sailors could spend their shore leave in Kuala Lumpur, an hour’s ride away. Instead, Francis arranged for the sailors to travel by rail on a little-used spur line. The train was infested with rats and cockroaches and moved at a snail’s pace, triggering an avalanche of complaints.

On a personal level, Francis further irritated Maus by delivering an unsolicited gift to his office on the ship each morning: a Royal Selangor pewter tankard. (Malaysia is a major producer of tin, the main ingredient in pewter.) The tankards were worth about $100 apiece and federal rules prohibited Navy personnel from accepting contractor gifts worth more than $20. Maus, a stickler for ethics, sent them back.

The worst annoyance came at the end of the visit. The Navy had a hard-and-fast rule that supply officers review and pay contractor invoices before leaving port. But as the Independence prepared to get under way, Glenn Marine still hadn’t delivered its bills, and Francis was nowhere to be found. “I was just absolutely livid,” Maus said. “I said, ‘Screw it,’ and for the only time in my career, I left port without paying.” He left a brusque message for Francis with the Glenn Marine staff: If you want your money, meet us at our next stop in Singapore.

Chastened, Francis arrived in Singapore with $300,000 worth of invoices. Maus didn’t dispute the amount but exploded when Francis asked to be paid in cash. For Francis, the request wasn’t unusual: Merchant ships often paid him in hard currency, and the Independence kept several million dollars in its safe, much of it to pay the crew. But disbursing cash was an accounting nightmare for the Navy. Maus told Francis that he’d write him a check and that he could take it or leave it. Francis accepted, but his actions left some sore feelings. “I was so pissed,” Maus said.

While neither recognized the significance of the encounter at the time, Maus and Francis had sized up each other and made important first impressions. In the years ahead, their tumultuous relationship would reverberate through the highest ranks of the Navy as they turned into wary associates, then close allies, and finally obsessive enemies, each threatening to destroy the other.


	
I. Military personnel are identified throughout this book by the rank they held at the time of the events described.

	
II. Another young Acadia officer who partied with Francis during the port visit, Michelle Coyne Skubic, became a three-star admiral twenty-seven years later—the first female supply officer selected for that rank.








Chapter Three [image: ] Ring of Steel


October 2000

ADEN, YEMEN

The USS Cole arrived mid-morning on October 12 in Aden, an ancient Arabian port, and anchored at the mouth of the harbor. The guided-missile destroyer had transited the Suez Canal and the Red Sea and needed to stop for several hours so it could take on 220,000 gallons of fuel before continuing north into the Persian Gulf. As the crew started to eat lunch, a small red-and-white motorboat approached. The two men aboard smiled and waved as they drew close to the hulking warship. Unsuspecting sailors on the Cole waved back, thinking the skiff had come to collect trash.

In fact, the two men were suicide bombers recruited by al-Qaeda and the motorboat was packed with explosives. The terrorists detonated their cargo and blew a gaping hole in the side of the Cole that almost sank the $1 billion vessel. Seventeen U.S. sailors were killed and forty-two were wounded, making it the deadliest assault on a U.S. Navy vessel in thirteen years. The attack presaged the far bigger one that al-Qaeda would inflict eleven months later with hijacked airliners.

Just as the United States was unprepared for 9/11, the Navy had not foreseen that a common motorboat could torpedo one of its powerful warships. The Cole disaster instantly upended the Navy’s risk calculations for foreign port calls. Unsure of the extent of the maritime threat posed by al-Qaeda, the Navy curtailed ship visits to Yemen and other Muslim countries and upgraded force protection requirements elsewhere.

The shift imperiled the fortunes of Leonard Francis and Glenn Marine Enterprise. Since 1997, he had established a thriving subsidiary—Glenn Defense Marine Asia—to handle military contracts, most of which came from the U.S. Navy. He had moved his hub of operations from Malaysia to Singapore, where the U.S. military maintained a small but permanent presence. After the Cole bombing, however, he realized his profitable partnership with the Americans would evaporate if he could not guarantee their ships were safe in his hands.

Under pressure, Francis devised a solution: a floating barrier that encircled a ship to prevent waterborne intruders from getting too close. The primitive contraption was merely a makeshift fence of heavy barges and pontoons linked by steel cables. But in a deft stroke of marketing, he branded it as the “Ring of Steel.”

The Ring of Steel sounded impregnable and looked plausible when he showed it to Navy force protection officers. “It was impressive,” said Jim Maus, the supply officer from the USS Independence. “No little boat is going through that. Bounce off it, maybe.” The Ring of Steel was also portable. Glenn Marine could move the components from harbor to harbor and customize the perimeter to suit any ship.

Shaken by the Cole bombing, the Navy grabbed the Ring of Steel as a lifeline. It didn’t have better ideas to protect its ships in Southeast Asia. Nor did it trust commercial ports or revenue-starved foreign navies to provide adequate security. The only other option was to park ships at well-guarded U.S. bases in Japan and Hawaii.

With the Ring of Steel, Francis not only saved his company, but found a way to expand it. After the Cole attack, Glenn Marine became one of a handful of contractors that could meet the Navy’s enhanced force protection requirements. Most competitors in the husbanding industry were mom-and-pop operators who couldn’t or wouldn’t invest in their own floating barriers. That meant more business for Francis.

“The Navy went crazy and paranoid over the Cole,” recalled Commander David Kapaun, an operations officer based in Singapore at the time. “Leonard jumped on that like you wouldn’t believe.”

The Ring of Steel’s first major test came in April 2001 when the USS Blue Ridge, the Seventh Fleet flagship, arrived in Malaysia’s Port Klang. According to the ship’s official command history, “a group of Malaysians” tried to attack the Blue Ridge in “a small boat loaded with explosives” but was stopped by Glenn Marine’s “floating barrier of barges.” The command history credited Francis by name for helping to “thwart” the attack and said the suspected “terrorists” were later arrested while robbing a bank “to gain more money for explosives.”

Curiously, the foiled terrorist attack and bank robbery didn’t make the news or draw public attention, raising the question of whether they really happened. It’s possible that U.S. and Malaysian authorities hushed up the incidents, but some Navy officials later came to suspect Francis of exaggerating threats and staging fake plots to justify demand for the Ring of Steel.

If there was an attempted terrorist strike against the Blue Ridge, it didn’t deter about two dozen Navy officers from venturing into Kuala Lumpur on the final night of the port visit to enjoy a swanky dinner courtesy of Glenn Marine. Francis hosted the officers in a private room at one of his favorite restaurants: the Chalet, a “grande dame” of continental cuisine in the Equatorial Hotel. Customized menu cards appeared with each place setting:


Duet of Oyster Mornay and Kilpatrick

Cream of Wild Forest Mushroom Soup served in Papa Bread

Fresh Gooseliver Panfried with Grapes and Madeira

Mango Sherbet with Pinot Noir in Ice Igloo

“Homard Thermidor”

The Classical Preparation of US Boston Lobster

In Champagne Cream Sauce and Gratinated

Sabayon du ChaletI

Crepe Suzette

La “Dolce Vita”

Iced Pralines



Francis spent thousands of dollars on the meal, but the expense was nothing compared with the profits he earned from a port visit. He knew if he wined and dined the Americans, they were unlikely to question his exorbitant fees, including for the Ring of Steel, which cost between $50,000 to $100,000 per day. “Everybody had to use the Ring of Steel,” he recalled. “So literally, the military’s force protection became the golden goose for me.”

For ship captains, no price was too high to protect their crews, not to mention their careers. The Navy held them accountable for everything that happened on their watch, regardless of whether they were personally responsible. If a low-ranking seaman screwed up a task that led to a serious accident, the Navy disciplined the commanding officer on the grounds that he or she had failed to ensure the sailor was properly trained and supervised.

The Navy upheld that unforgiving standard after the attack on the Cole. A high-level investigation concluded the Cole was “a well-trained, well-led and highly capable ship” and that the skipper, Commander Kirk Lippold, was not at fault. Intelligence reporting had also failed to detect any threats in advance of the visit to Aden. But the Navy nonetheless blocked Lippold from promotion and forced him to retire—Pentagon officials and members of Congress decided someone needed to be held accountable for the disaster.

Many commanding officers thought the Navy and Congress treated Lippold unfairly, but the message resonated: Take every precaution. As a result, few ship captains were willing to risk a port visit without the Ring of Steel, no matter the expense—particularly after 9/11 demonstrated that al-Qaeda’s attack on the Cole was not an isolated event.

Terrorist threats spread to Southeast Asia. In October 2002, an al-Qaeda affiliate bombed Bali’s tourist districts, killing 202 people. Seven Americans died and the U.S. consulate was damaged. The Navy reduced its visits to Indonesia, but demand for the Ring of Steel soared in other ports. Glenn Defense’s bottom line soared with it.

The Navy’s byzantine accounting policies made it easy for Francis to jack up his prices with minimal resistance. Ship captains had no incentive to scrutinize bills for the Ring of Steel because they did not have to dip into their own budgets to pay for it—force protection expenses were covered by Pacific Fleet headquarters in Hawaii. Captain James Dolan, a logistics officer who was friendly with Francis, said Pacific Fleet officials always approved bills for the Ring of Steel, even if it cost “umpteen gazillion dollars,” because they knew if “you had a second Cole, that the shit would hit the fan.”

More broadly, Francis benefited from the Navy’s profligate mindset as the United States boosted military spending during the “War on Terror.” Between 2000 and 2008, the Navy’s annual budget jumped from $89 billion to $165 billion, an 85 percent increase. With so much money, the Navy faced scant pressure to hold down costs, especially for counterterrorism defenses.

Ironically, many Navy officers doubted the Ring of Steel would work in a real crisis. Some mocked it as the “Ring of Gold” or the “Ring of Death.” Captain Al Collins, who led naval exercises in Southeast Asia during the early 2000s, said he was “underwhelmed” by the level of protection. “It was either a bunch of barrels or a bunch of barges mated together,” he said. “It’s nothing sophisticated or fancy.”

Some Navy officers guessed that the Ring of Steel might stop small boats but that watercraft more than thirty feet long could go right over the steel cables. There was also nothing to prevent a diver from swimming underneath and planting a bomb.

For reasons that remain unclear, the Navy never subjected the Ring of Steel to rigorous field testing. Five years after Francis began providing the Ring of Steel, the Navy’s contracting office in Singapore hired Wackenhut, a security firm, to analyze force protection measures in Southeast Asia. Wackenhut reported the Ring of Steel had “a robust appearance,” but noted that it remained untested and “may give a ship’s captain a false sense of security while making only marginal contribution to the overall safety of the ship and crew.”

The deputy commander of the Singapore contracting office complained that the Ring of Steel was “ridiculously expensive” and calculated that the Navy could have simply surrounded a ship with a perimeter of patrol boats for the same cost. For several years, the Singapore office tried to persuade the Seventh Fleet and Pacific Fleet staffs to define acceptable standards for the use of the Ring of Steel. But fleet officials didn’t want to assume responsibility for force protection decisions, preferring instead to leave ship captains with that burden.



Francis’s success with the Ring of Steel was an outgrowth of his strategic decision to base Glenn Defense in Singapore. The fast-growing city-state had swelled to around four million people since Francis lived there as a boy and had given the Americans access to an old British military installation after the closure of Subic Bay. Though the site was far too small to replace Subic, the Navy stationed about two hundred personnel in offices in Singapore to manage regional contracts, logistics, and other matters.

Intensely ambitious, Francis wanted to expand beyond the handful of ports he serviced for the Navy in Southeast Asia. To win more contracts and fatten his profit margins, he needed help navigating the inner workings of the Navy bureaucracy, which spoke in a peculiar dialect colored by acronyms and military jargon. With his corporate headquarters in Singapore, he had more opportunities to recruit tutors to teach him the Navy’s lingo and feed him inside information about its business dealings.

Navy officials were prohibited from showing favoritism to contractors or working on their behalf. But Francis had a talent for spotting people who, with a little encouragement, would break the rules. He’d start by offering a modest inducement: a drink, an inexpensive lunch, a cigar. If his target took the bait, he’d ratchet up the value of the gifts.

He set his sights on David Kapaun, a Navy commander at the logistics office in Singapore whom he had met in 1999. Francis struck up a casual acquaintance, often bumping into Kapaun on the waterfront. In 2001, while refining his early designs for the Ring of Steel, Francis invited him to a group dinner at a hotel restaurant. The meal was nothing fancy, but Kapaun accepted and had a good time. Soon, they started meeting one-on-one at Singapore’s Amara Hotel.

The Glenn Defense owner privately regarded Kapaun as a “silent, quiet weirdo” but viewed him as an ideal candidate to groom as an informant because he drank heavily and was estranged from his wife. Soon Francis began providing Kapaun with free hotel rooms and what he described as “a whole lot of expensive prostitutes.” He learned that Kapaun liked Indonesian women and group sex, so he flew multiple prostitutes in from Jakarta.

After his liaisons, Kapaun sent “status reports” to Francis from an anonymous email account. He rated prostitutes by their looks and eagerness to perform his favorite sex acts. (“Anga and Olive. Most enthusiastic double.”) In a half-joking attempt to hide the affairs from his wife, Kapaun prefaced the emails with coded references to secret operations (“Senior executives eyes only… Do not disseminate”).

In exchange, Kapaun served as an unofficial business consultant for Francis and edited Glenn Defense’s official correspondence with the Navy. “[Leonard’s] written English was terrible,” he recalled. He suggested how Francis could tweak his plans for the Ring of Steel to increase the chances that the Navy would pay for it. He coached Francis on the design by sharing photos and presentations of how the Navy protected its ships in other locales. He leaked confidential information about Glenn Defense’s competitors and their pricing structures.

For Francis, the help was invaluable. Between 2001 and 2004, Kapaun became instrumental in the transformation of Glenn Defense from a small company into a leading contractor for the Navy. Francis later estimated that he provided Kapaun with $50,000 worth of prostitutes, meals, hotel rooms, tickets, and other gifts.

Even at the time, Kapaun recognized he had crossed the line into illegal behavior. “I knew the banshees might come to roost for me,” he recalled. But he thought the worst that could happen was that the Navy might discipline him or drum him out of the service. It never occurred to him that he might go to prison.



Months after the Cole bombing, Francis flew to Tennessee to visit Jeff O’Neal, his boyhood friend from Penang, who had moved to a Nashville suburb. They hadn’t seen each other in more than a decade. Jeff was shocked by how large his old pal had become. Leonard admitted to his friend that he now weighed about five hundred pounds.

He was too big to fit in a car, so Jeff picked him up at the airport in his truck. Leonard acknowledged that his eating was out of control. In desperation, he’d asked a doctor to wire his jaw so he could only drink liquids. But after a couple of days he gave up and had the wires removed. Before arriving in Nashville, he had visited a doctor in the Midwest—a specialist in gastric bypass surgery—to inquire about getting his stomach stapled. Leonard thought the operation sounded promising and said he planned to go through with it.

Jeff was pleased to see Leonard but noticed some other changes in his friend. While Leonard had always been a showman, he seemed overly intent on advertising his newfound wealth and status.

When they arrived at the O’Neal home, Leonard sprung a surprise: He was carrying $40,000 in cash. Did Jeff have a gun and a safe he could borrow so he wouldn’t get robbed? Uh, no, Jeff replied. There wasn’t much crime in the Nashville suburbs. Puzzled, he asked Leonard what he was thinking. Why didn’t he just use credit cards? The business tycoon smiled but offered no real explanation.

During the visit, Leonard spent hours on the phone negotiating another lucrative contract with the Navy. He and Jeff also went shopping at souvenir stores in downtown Nashville, where Leonard spent about $1,000 on military paraphernalia and patriotic knickknacks emblazoned with U.S. flags and bald eagles. He wanted to decorate Glenn Defense’s offices to show how pro-American he was.

The shopping trip left Leonard exhausted. When they got home, he told Jeff he was accustomed to having servants and, dropping a hint, mentioned that his maid in Singapore would take off his shoes for him. “I was like, ‘No,’ ” Jeff said.

Despite his fatigue, Leonard wanted to take a side trip to Memphis. The lifelong Elvis fanatic had to see Graceland. Jeff couldn’t take more time off work, so Leonard rented a car: a stretch limousine with a chauffeur. When the limo arrived, Jeff thought it looked like Leonard was going on a prom date or to a homecoming dance, not a two-hundred-mile ride to Elvis’s mansion. Leonard climbed in, clutching his bag with what remained of his $40,000 in cash, giddy as a teenager.

“Off he went,” Jeff recalled, “off to Graceland.”


	
I. The restaurant’s signature dessert, a sugary egg-based concoction whipped by hand and served cold.
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September 2003

SINGAPORE

With his shirt untucked and his stomach hanging out, an inebriated Leonard Francis lay atop a banquet table at one of the most exclusive restaurants in Singapore. A prostitute hand-fed him leftover morsels from the $30,000 feast he was hosting. Around the table, his American guests—about two dozen U.S. Navy and Marine Corps personnel—puffed Cohiba cigars from Cuba and swilled Dom Pérignon while a gaggle of young women massaged their necks. One Navy officer present said the scene resembled a “Roman orgy.”

For the five-hour party with his American customers, Francis had rented Jaan, a Michelin-starred restaurant on the seventieth floor of a luxury hotel. Through plate-glass windows, the private dining room boasted spectacular views of the Singapore skyline and, in the distance, the twinkling lights of ships on the South China Sea. But the sights inside the restaurant that evening made an even more indelible impression.

One prostitute flashed her breasts at Rear Admiral Robert Conway Jr., the commanding officer of the USS Peleliu expeditionary strike group. Colonel Michael Regner, the normally rigid commander of the strike group’s 2,200 Marines, mouthed the words to “Y.M.C.A” while a band played the disco hit. One Navy captain was spotted French-kissing a prostitute. As the spectacle unfolded, a few officers watched slack-jawed, unsure how to respond to their superiors’ conduct. The rest had the time of their lives.

The evening had started innocently enough. Before the Peleliu, a Tarawa-class amphibious assault ship, arrived in Singapore for a port visit, Francis sent an invitation to Conway, offering to host a dinner for him and officers under his command. Like many admirals, Conway was known as a strict, at-times imperious boss. One staff officer described him as a “self-impressed” blowhard.

Conway showed the invitation to a uniformed Navy lawyer on his staff: a member of the Judge Advocate General’s Corps, or JAG. Federal gift rules prohibited personnel from accepting gifts worth more than $20 from a contractor—something Conway had been taught repeatedly during mandatory ethics training—but the JAG officer sensed his boss really wanted to go and was looking for cover. The lawyer, whose career prospects depended on staying in the admiral’s good graces, said it was probably fine if the event wasn’t too fancy. The legal advice was dubious, but Conway embraced it.

On the night of the dinner, Glenn Defense drivers picked up Conway and the Peleliu strike group officers from the pier and chauffeured them to Swissôtel The Stamford, the tallest hotel in Singapore. Francis greeted them as they stepped off the elevator on the seventieth floor and summoned them inside the restaurant for cocktails. Most of the Americans had not met their host before and watched spellbound as he snapped his fingers at the waitstaff, ordering whiskey and other spirits for his guests. They admired the views as the sun dipped over the horizon, then gathered inside a private banquet room for the main event.

As the highest-ranking officer present, Conway received the place of honor at the head of the table, with Francis seated at his right elbow, juggling calls and texts on multiple mobile phones. As the seven-course meal progressed, he told the admiral stories, in graphic detail, about his recent gastric bypass surgery and how it had enabled him to shed about 150 pounds.

Close to midnight, about twenty young women whom officers described as “dressed to the nines” and wearing “hooker shoes” suddenly paraded into the room. “This is your entertainment for the evening!” Francis exclaimed. All eyes pivoted to Conway to gauge his reaction. The admiral seemed to be enjoying himself immensely. One woman broke the ice by sitting in an officer’s lap. The guests cheered.

One person at the table looked visibly uncomfortable: Captain Cynthia Thebaud, the commanding officer of the USS Decatur, a destroyer in the Peleliu’s strike group. She bit her tongue but emailed Conway’s chief of staff the next day to express her displeasure. She wanted the admiral to know that the party flunked what she called the “Washington Post Front Page” test—in other words, they would all look like idiots if a reporter found out a defense contractor had bought them a meal that cost $880 per person and provided prostitutes as entertainment.

Conway dismissively told his staff to pass along the complaint to Glenn Defense, but the admiral didn’t apologize or express any regrets about the dinner. Instead, he sent Francis a thank-you letter.

“Please accept my sincere appreciation and deepest gratitude for the exceptional support services you provided,” he wrote. “Although our stay was brief, you made our stay a memorable one.”



Though most people still called him Fat Leonard behind his back, Francis leveraged his magnificent dinner parties to encourage a different nickname: “Leonard the Legend.” The banquets were the foundation of his strategy—honed in the aftermath of his success with the Ring of Steel—to expand his business by currying favor with commanding officers, especially admirals.

Over the years, he had learned that rank and perception meant everything in the military. Admirals in the Navy were like the College of Cardinals in the Roman Catholic Church: Both were exclusive clubs with around two hundred members who wielded near-absolute power. Francis knew whenever people saw him glad-handing an admiral, word would spread through the fleet that he was a VIP with connections at the top. Likewise, when admirals pocketed his perks, other officers assumed it was permissible for them to do the same. Most important, he understood that few would dare challenge his fraudulent business practices if they thought he was cozy with the brass.

Most admirals welcomed Francis’s flattery. “Their egos allowed them to feel like they should be treated in a certain way, and he certainly scratched that itch,” said Captain Ted Algire, a U.S. defense attaché in Hong Kong. Consequently, the Navy “turned a blind eye to anything this guy was doing.”

By 2003, Francis had secured the contract for Navy port visits to Singapore and could barely keep up with all the ships crossing the Pacific en route to the Persian Gulf to help fight the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan.

In September 2003, the same month that he hosted Conway and the Peleliu, Francis reserved the Jaan restaurant again to impress another admiral. The USS Nimitz, a nuclear-powered aircraft carrier, had stopped in Singapore after completing a mission to the Gulf. Francis wanted to meet the head of the Nimitz strike group: Rear Admiral Samuel Locklear III, a tall, silver-haired South Carolinian and Naval Academy graduate, as well as a rising star in the fleet. The wives of many Nimitz officers—including Locklear’s—had traveled to Singapore to see their spouses for the first time in months. Francis invited them, too.

The Nimitz affair was slightly more modest than the Peleliu party, but still elaborate. Francis seated himself next to Locklear during the eight-course meal, which included caviar, freshly shucked oysters, three preparations of foie gras, lobster Thermidor, beef tenderloin, and baked Alaska. As he did with Conway, Francis engrossed the admiral with a blow-by-blow account of his stomach-stapling operation. After clearing the plates, the waitstaff handed out Cohiba cigars. When the gathering ended around 11 p.m., Francis handed floral bouquets to the wives and personalized wooden plaques to the officers. All told, it cost Francis upward of $300 per person.

Francis stayed on his best behavior around the wives. But on another night during the port visit, he enticed his old friend from Bali—Commander Robert Gilbeau, newly promoted and now the head of the Nimitz’s supply department—to join him at Brix, a loud nightclub at the Grand Hyatt Hotel. Francis said he paid some prostitutes they met there to spend the night with the forty-two-year-old Gilbeau and another Navy officer.

The Nimitz was scheduled to visit Hong Kong next. But after several days at sea, Gilbeau emailed Francis to say the carrier’s plans had unexpectedly changed: The ship would be returning to Singapore. Gilbeau suggested visiting Brix for another evening of fun. “Catch my drift?” he wrote.

Francis understood completely. “The Kahuna above has heard our prayers,” he replied. “Will be standin by to Welcome you all back home to Papa Leonard soon.” He promised that a female friend from their previous night on the town would be “waiting eagerly.”

He hastily arranged another opulent dinner at Jaan—the third in less than a month—for Locklear, Gilbeau, and others from the Nimitz strike group. This time, however, the evening would be just for the guys. The officers’ wives had left town.

About twenty-five guests, dressed casually in shirts and slacks, crowded around a single long table topped with floral displays of red roses. Francis spent $35,000 on the feast.

After dessert, things turned rowdy. Francis stood on a chair and sang at the top of his lungs while a conga line of graying, middle-aged Navy men shuffled through the restaurant, hands on another’s hips. Locklear, normally dignified and tightly composed, beamed as he loosened up with a glass of cognac.

Then the festivities really took a turn. “The doors opened and Fat Leonard brought in the girls,” recalled Commander David Fravor, a pilot who served on the Nimitz. “There were probably about fifteen girls, at least, who barged in.”

Francis’s hospitality, as intended, left an unforgettable impression on the admiral.

“I just wanted to say thank you for the kind invitation to your dinner party,” Locklear wrote to Francis a few days later, gushing about the “wonderful” venue and the “incredible” view. “The food was absolutely magnificent!”

Francis recouped his party expenses, and then some, by overcharging the Nimitz for the port visit.

Gilbeau, the carrier’s supply officer, had the authority to approve major purchases so Francis asked him to buy $200,000 worth of flat-screen televisions for the ship from Glenn Defense. The carrier had no pressing need to acquire televisions in a foreign country, but Francis said he wanted to mark up the price by 40 to 50 percent. “Help out an old buddy,” Francis urged in an email. Gilbeau obliged.

Glenn Defense further overcharged the Nimitz by claiming it had pumped 450,000 gallons of wastewater from the ship, more than twice the usual amount for a port visit. Francis said Gilbeau agreed to pay the fraudulent wastewater invoice in exchange for a $40,000 cash bribe and two prostitutes. “He doubled it up just so that he could get a kickback from me and get laid, of course,” Francis recalled. (Gilbeau confirmed that he approved the wastewater bill but said he didn’t realize that it was inflated. He denied taking the $40,000 in cash. “I never accepted a bribe from Leonard Francis.”)



In 2004, Glenn Defense won a new husbanding contract to service Navy ships in Hong Kong. With its glittering skyline, tantalizing food, and English-speaking red-light districts, the former British colony had exerted a gravitational pull on American sailors for generations.

To commemorate his expansion to Hong Kong, Francis organized a holiday party for officers from the USS Abraham Lincoln, a nuclear-powered aircraft carrier, and three smaller warships in its strike group: the USS Benfold, the USS Shoup, and the USS Shiloh. The ships anchored near Penny’s Bay on Christmas Eve and Francis invited the strike group commander, Rear Admiral Doug Crowder, and his officers to a “Christmas Cheer” celebration on December 26.

A Naval Academy graduate from North Carolina, the fifty-two-year-old Crowder was making his eighth visit to Hong Kong. He had never met Francis but thought his staff might appreciate the holiday party. He asked his JAG officer, Lieutenant Commander Scott Thompson, to review the invitation. It was Thompson’s first time dealing with Glenn Defense too, and he knew Navy personnel were not supposed to accept gifts from a defense contractor. He emailed the company to inquire about the event.

Over the years, Francis had become adept at fielding queries from Navy lawyers and circumventing ethics rules. He ordered a Glenn Defense staffer to masquerade as a corporate attorney and respond to Thompson, assuring him that the event would be open to other Americans in Hong Kong, including a broad cross section of people from business and government with a diversity of interests. None of it was true. But the description, not coincidentally, mirrored the language in an obscure section of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations that permitted government officials to accept invitations to professional conferences and other “widely attended gatherings” for free.

Thompson thought the explanation passed muster, but he double-checked with a senior JAG officer on the Seventh Fleet staff in Japan, asking whether he could take Glenn Defense’s assurances at “face value.” He was told yes. That was good enough for Thompson. He advised the admiral that it was legally permissible to attend the Christmas Cheer party. “I ran the traps, I thought, pretty thoroughly,” he recalled. “I was trying to do the right thing.”

Most of the strike group officers were thrilled, but one sensed trouble. Commander David Meyers, the head of the Abraham Lincoln’s supply department, urged the carrier’s commanding officer, Captain Kendall Card, not to attend. He thought it was stupid to accept such a blatant overture from a defense contractor and predicted Francis would use the party as an excuse to gouge the Navy for the port visit.

“I said, ‘All his profits are coming from overcharging us for services,’ ” Meyers recalled. “When they said they were going to go, I’m thinking, ‘You’re the captain of this ship and you’ve had more ethical training than me, but this seems like a no-brainer.’ ”

The brass ignored him. On the evening of December 26, Admiral Crowder, Captain Card, and about sixty Navy officers from the strike group—minus Meyers and his staff from the supply department—arrived at Petrus, a resplendent French restaurant on the fifty-sixth floor of the Shangri-La Hotel overlooking Hong Kong’s Victoria Harbour. Waiting to greet them was a troupe of bagpipers and a beaming Francis, dressed in a black suit with wide lapels and a red-and-green Santa Claus tie. He had planned his most extravagant dinner yet.

For cocktails, he’d stocked the open bars with Dom Pérignon and Cristal champagne, rare whiskeys, Armagnac brandy, and thirty-year-old vintages of wine from the Château Lafite Rothschild. A Filipino chorus sang Christmas carols while the waitstaff handed out fistfuls of Cuban cigars.

Despite Glenn Defense’s representations that a broad cross section of people would attend, only two guests were unaffiliated with the Navy or Francis’s firm: a South China Morning Post reporter and a priest who volunteered as a U.S. military chaplain in Hong Kong.

Glenn Defense spent more than $60,000 on the dinner, or roughly $800 per person, forty times the federal $20 gift limit. After cocktails, guests gathered around circular tables and luxuriated in a seven-course meal featuring Francis’s favorite surf-and-turf delicacies:


Light Boston lobster jelly with Oscietra caviar

And cauliflower espumaI

Warm black truffle royale with cepe cappuccino

Duck liver confit raviolis with black truffles

Champagne sherbet with peach foam

Boston lobster Thermidor

Beef fillet served with shallots cooked in red wine, bone marrow potatoes and grilled duck liver, Bordelaise sauce

Vanilla strawberry flambing Alaska



One officer called it the “fanciest dinner I’d ever been to.” Captain Craig Faller, the skipper of the Shiloh, sized up the forty-year-old Francis as “full of himself, pretty large and in charge” but couldn’t help being amazed. “I won’t sugarcoat it and say, you know, it was just a standard party. It was sort of, wow, very nice event, world-class event,” he recalled.

But what really caught everyone’s eyes were the amorous young women dressed as elves, roaming the restaurant in red-and-white hats, black boots, and skimpy yuletide skirts. Francis introduced them as his Santa Niñas, or Santa Girls. The elves flirted with the American officers all night, giving them hugs, fetching them drinks, and asking whether they had been naughty or nice.

Commander Donald Hornbeck, the skipper of the USS Benfold, couldn’t believe it when he arrived. “Is this illegal?” he asked a colleague, who assured him the party was legitimate—or at least that the JAG officer had said so. Hornbeck perked up when a blond Santa Niña snuggled in close and showed him her bare thighs. Fortified by a few drinks, he donned his Ray-Ban sunglasses and crashed the stage to play drums with the band.

Armed with cameras, the Santa Niñas darted around the restaurant snapping photographs of themselves with dozens of tipsy officers. At that point, Lieutenant Commander Thompson realized he’d made a colossal error in judgment by giving his legal blessing to the dinner. “I definitely felt snookered,” he recalled.

Other JAG officers at the party worried that the women and their cameras presented a counterintelligence threat. It would be easy to blackmail Navy officers with photos of their drunken behavior with women who appeared to be prostitutes. Making matters worse: Some of the women spoke with Russian-sounding accents.

The counterintelligence risk would become more acute in the years ahead as several of the partygoers ascended in the ranks. Crowder later pinned on a third star and served as the commander of the Seventh Fleet. Card became a vice admiral and chief of Naval Intelligence. Faller became a four-star admiral and held high-ranking jobs at the Pentagon.

The JAGs had been right to worry: Francis kept digital copies of the Santa Niñas’ photographs, adding them to his collection of compromising material on senior officers. He expected the dirt might come in handy someday.



The morning of Francis’s Christmas Cheer bash, a historic earthquake measuring 9.1 on the Richter scale struck the Indian Ocean seabed off the west coast of Sumatra, about 1,850 miles southwest of Hong Kong. The quake triggered a tsunami that crashed into coastlines in Indonesia, Malaysia, Thailand, Sri Lanka, and India, killing 220,000 people.

As news of the disaster spread, the Abraham Lincoln strike group received orders to depart Hong Kong early to conduct a humanitarian relief mission. The day after the party, while the ships prepared to leave, Francis boarded the aircraft carrier to hand out boxes of cigars as gifts and to present Glenn Defense’s bills for the port visit.

Lieutenant Chris Statler, the stock control officer in the Abraham Lincoln’s supply department, had not attended the party. But he heard stories about the scrumptious food, Dom Pérignon, and prostitutes. When Francis handed him a $600,000 invoice for pumping wastewater from the ship, he was incensed. He knew the aircraft carrier didn’t generate that much sewage and suspected Glenn Defense was dumping it in the harbor anyway.

Statler accused Francis of padding the bills to cover the costs of the dinner. Francis didn’t deny it but demanded full payment. In the end, Statler had to back down. There was a rush to get under way because of the tsunami, and the bills had to be settled before the ship could depart. “He laughed in my face,” Statler recalled. “He knew he was going to get paid.”

Francis’s strategy of kissing up to the admirals was soon vindicated. Two days later, as the Abraham Lincoln rushed toward the Indian Ocean to help quake victims, Rear Admiral Crowder took a moment to compose a letter.

“Dear Leonard,” he wrote by hand. “Thanks so much for inviting me and so many of my officers to your wonderful dinner… And what an event it was!! Everyone is still talking about it! It was great to get to know you and your other guests. And I know that you easily could see what a great time we all had.”


	
I. A foam or froth that is a hallmark of molecular gastronomy.
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Chapter Five [image: ] Mr. Make-It-Happen


January 2006

SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA

Proud-but-teary family members crowded the dock at the North Island Naval Air Station on a balmy winter day, waving tiny American flags as they bade farewell to the Navy’s newest aircraft carrier, the USS Ronald Reagan. After eighteen months of tests and drills, the $4.5 billion warship was departing Southern California on its maiden deployment. The Navy had not officially announced the Reagan’s destination, but everyone in San Diego knew its five thousand sailors were headed to the Persian Gulf to support the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan. Michael Reagan, the fortieth president’s son, was on hand to wish the crew good luck. “Win one for the Gipper!” he told them.

As the Reagan approached Singapore, its last port of call before the Gulf, the crew trained for the combat mission ahead. But the strike group commander, Rear Admiral Michael Miller, had additional things on his mind: shopping and fine dining.

A mustachioed, fun-loving redhead from Minot, North Dakota, Miller graduated from the Naval Academy in 1974. (“Undoubtedly Mike will go far,” the Academy yearbook predicted, “as far as the next bar.”) Trained as an S-3 Viking antisubmarine aircraft pilot—his call sign was “Madman”—he flew combat missions in Libya and commanded an air squadron in the first Persian Gulf war. During the late 1990s, he served as a Seventh Fleet staff officer in Asia, where he had fond memories of time spent with Leonard Francis. Now that he was back in the region, the admiral wanted to reconnect.

“Leonard, Rear Admiral Mike Miller, here, checking in,” he emailed as the Reagan passed through the Java Sea. “Don’t know if you remember me or not…. We always called you ‘Mr. Make-it-Happen’ on the staff, since you consistently seemed to find a path to success.”

Miller piled on more compliments and invited Francis for a chat in his stateroom once the ship arrived in Singapore. He had some favors to ask. “I’m wondering if you would have any suggestions for where I might find some nice rattan furniture. I’m looking for a comfortable swivel chair or rocker that I can relax in, but have found them cost prohibitive back in the States.” The admiral also wanted a digital camera “at a decent price.”

“Looking forward to our visit, and renewing our friendship,” he concluded warmly.

Despite Miller’s chummy tone, Francis barely remembered him. But as soon as he read the email, he understood the subtext. Leonard the Legend’s reputation for largesse had circulated through the admiral’s old-boy network, and this one wanted a share of the spoils.

He wrote Miller back to say he was happy to oblige.

“Dear Admiral Miller: What a pleasant surprise it was to hear from you, and it is always a pleasure to renew old acquaintances! I sincerely appreciate your kind words. Of course I remember you.” He promised to satisfy the admiral’s shopping needs and couldn’t resist mentioning that he had slimmed down to a svelte 350 pounds since they last met. “You may have trouble recognizing me as I am not the Red oak I once was!” he bragged. “Although I may be only half the size of my former self, I am still ‘Mr. Make-it-Happen.’ ”

More than other branches of the armed forces, the Navy invested its commanding officers with an unusual degree of independence, a tradition dating to the era of sailing ships, when captains ruled with an iron hand during long voyages. Even in the modern era, the Navy bestowed commanding officers with unfettered authority to ensure successful missions and the well-being of their crews. The downside was that they often became accustomed to royal treatment and few subordinates had the courage to chide them for a swollen ego.

During his thirty-two years in the Navy, Miller had earned a reputation as a leader who cared deeply about his sailors but also savored the trappings of his rank. A JAG officer on his staff described him as someone who “has expensive tastes and likes to buy nice things.” Francis, who was used to Navy officers extending their hands for freebies, said Miller was in a category of his own, calling him “very entitled” with “two hands and two legs” out. Francis had already been planning one of his patented dinner parties for officers on the Reagan, but after receiving Miller’s email he rushed to upgrade his usual package of perks for the visiting admiral.

As part of its contract with the Navy, Glenn Defense was required to provide senior officers with ground transportation during port visits. The contract called only for the basics: an air-conditioned sedan and driver. But Francis ordered his personal chauffeur to escort Miller around Singapore in a “British racing green” Jaguar with a plush leather interior.

On the third day of the Reagan’s visit, Francis invited Miller to tour Glenn Defense’s new glass-walled headquarters on Pandan Road, along the waterfront overlooking the Singapore Strait. He also wanted to show off a decommissioned British warship he had purchased. Formerly known as the RFA Sir Lancelot, it was built in the 1960s as a logistics landing ship and served in the 1982 Falklands War.

Francis spent $3 million upgrading the ship and renamed it the Glenn Braveheart, an allusion to the Scottish martyr William Wallace and Francis’s own Highlander lineage. Over four hundred feet long and capable of carrying three hundred people and two helicopters, the Braveheart was by far the most imposing ship in Glenn Defense’s growing fleet of barges, tugboats, and supply vessels. But it was of little practical use and served mostly as an outlet for Francis’s vanity. He held parties on the ship, used it to transport his Rolls-Royces from port to port, and staffed the crew with elite British-trained soldiers from Nepal known as Gurkhas.

Flanked by a Gurkha honor guard and bagpipers wearing kilts, Francis welcomed Miller aboard the Braveheart with full VIP honors and gave him a wooden-and-brass plaque. As they chatted inside Francis’s office on the ship, Miller admired a collection of burgundy Chesterfield-style chairs and commented that they would look nice in his stateroom on the Reagan. Francis had recently bought the chairs for about $1,700 each but took the hint. When Miller departed, Francis instructed an assistant to polish three of the chairs and deliver them to the Reagan for the admiral’s personal use.

That night, Francis again rented out the Jaan restaurant, to entertain Miller and about thirty other guests from the Reagan and the U.S. embassy in Singapore. The event began with cocktails on the skyscraper’s helipad, where bagpipers in kilts played in the drizzle. Despite the clouds, one Navy officer was so taken by the high-altitude views that he swore he could see the curvature of the earth.

Because some Navy spouses were present, Francis exercised restraint and did not bring prostitutes. But he did flaunt his new wife, Teresa, a raven-haired “catwalk model” whom he introduced as “Miss Indonesia.” The Americans found her captivating—one officer called her “drop-dead gorgeous”—and marveled at Fat Leonard’s improbable ability to attract such a beauty.I

At her husband’s direction, Teresa sat next to Miller during the meal and hovered over his right elbow. With smug satisfaction, Francis noticed the admiral gazing at her with a “lusty” look on his face. Miller admitted he found her attractive. “She was very striking, so you wouldn’t forget meeting her,” he recalled.

On the helipad, Francis and his guests noshed on hors d’oeuvres and drained twenty-four bottles of Dom Pérignon. Then they retreated indoors to assigned seats where embossed menu cards trumpeted another surf-and-turf feast:


Amuse-BoucheII

Pan Fried Duck Liver And Terrine Au Naturel

Caramelized Mini Pear, Orange-Pepper Reduction

Perigord Black Truffle Crème

Braised Bobby Veal Shank Pastilla

Intermezzo

John DoryIII With Nut Crumble

Risotto And Sevruga Caviar, Garlic-Parsley Butter

Grilled Beef Tenderloin Maine Lobster Thermidor

Mashed Potato And Pilaf Rice, Truffle Jus

Grand Cru Dark Chocolate Mousse

Wild Strawberry Coulis, Walnuts Maple Ice Cream

Coffee or Tea

Mignardises



Between courses, Francis and his Navy friends kept the wine steward scrambling. They ordered thirty-one bottles of Bordeaux and seven bottles of Sauternes. After dessert, they sipped twenty-eight glasses of cognac and smoked thirty-six Cuban cigars. At the end of the evening, the restaurant handed Francis an itemized bill for $28,375. More than half of it was for the booze.

The indulgences didn’t end there. Francis honored Miller by presenting him with an elaborate model of the Reagan—at a scale of 350 to 1, it was the size of a coffee table—that he’d custom-ordered from a Florida craftsman for $5,150.

The beneficence touched Miller. “Leonard, my thanks to you and Teresa for one of the best evenings of my life,” he wrote the next day in an email. “Your generosity is only exceeded by your genuine concern for each and every one of my Sailors, and I will forever be in your debt for the many courtesies that you have extended them… and me.”

Nothing made Francis happier than knowing an admiral was in his debt. Inevitably, he knew, a time would come when he’d want to call in a favor.

He was also pleased that he had found a way to dodge U.S. government killjoys who wanted to clamp down on his fun. By the time of the Reagan’s visit in 2006, Navy contracting officials in Singapore who oversaw husbanding operations across Asia had received numerous reports about Glenn Defense’s profligate parties. Some worried Francis had become an “ethics time bomb” and decided an intervention was necessary, though there was only so much they could do to prevent higher-ranking Navy officers from misbehaving.

After the fabled Christmas Cheer celebration two years earlier, they inserted a clause into Glenn Defense’s contracts requiring the company to “refrain from providing gratuities, upgrades, entertainment, food, parties and any other prohibited items” to Navy personnel. Commander David Warunek, the head of the Singapore contracting office, said it was highly unusual for the Navy to try to regulate a company’s conduct in that manner but called the Hong Kong soiree the “last straw.”

The edict had forced Francis to cancel a few events, including a giant beach party for about a hundred people on Sentosa Island in Singapore. But with the connivance of Navy officers who wanted to let the good times roll, he devised a workaround grounded in the same logic as the Pentagon’s “Don’t Ask, Don’t Tell” policy for gays in the military.

Under the scheme, Francis’s guests agreed in advance to reimburse him a token amount for a dinner, usually $50 per person. They knew the real expense would be exponentially higher, but as long as they didn’t ask and Francis didn’t show them the bill, they could claim they had paid for their meal. For the dinner at Jaan, for instance, several officers from the Reagan said they paid Francis between $50 and $70 apiece.

The only one who kept a record was Miller. The day after the party, he wrote a personal check to Francis for $550: fifty bucks for the dinner and $500 for the ship model. He wrote a second check for $1,000 for his new stateroom chairs and a third check for $203 to reimburse Francis for a new digital camera.

The checks covered only a fraction of what the items cost. But Miller also gave Francis something priceless: a written endorsement.

Commanding officers had a tradition of sending congratulatory messages known as Bravo Zulus, a Navy term meaning “well done.” Bravo Zulus were basically thank-you notes, intended as a public pat on the back. But Francis treasured the letters as a boost to his business and exploited them in a way that none of his competitors did.

Although Navy rules prohibited contractor endorsements, Francis constantly solicited written praise from commanding officers. He showcased Bravo Zulus in glossy marketing brochures and attached them to his bids for Navy contracts. He coveted messages from admirals because their words carried extra weight. If a junior officer were to file a complaint about Glenn Defense’s performance, Francis could easily neutralize it with a Bravo Zulu from an admiral.

Two days after the Reagan strike group departed Singapore, Miller signed an over-the-top Bravo Zulu applauding Glenn Defense for performing “like a well-oiled machine” and “delivering extraordinary customer service.” It singled out Francis by name, saying his “ability to ‘make it happen,’ regardless of the size of the challenge, is simply without parallel.” To Francis’s delight, Miller circulated the message widely, copying it to U.S. Pacific Fleet headquarters at Pearl Harbor, the commander of the Seventh Fleet, and even the contracting office in Singapore that had tried to outlaw Glenn Defense’s parties.

A few weeks later, Miller sang the Malaysian businessman’s praises again in an email to a fellow admiral passing through Asia. “Should you need anything, trust me, Leonard can make it happen,” Miller wrote. “If you haven’t met him, be sure to greet he [sic] and his beautiful wife Teresa for me when you pull in. Leonard brings an entirely new definition of ‘first class’ service to the ship.”

The compliments were proof that his investment in Miller was paying off.



The Reagan departed Singapore on February 11, 2006, and crossed the Indian Ocean to the Persian Gulf. During three months in the Middle East, the carrier’s air wing launched more than 6,100 sorties, most of them combat flights in support of the war in Iraq.

Amid the fighting, some officers daydreamed about their epicurean adventures with Francis and longed for more. “I’m still full from that wonderful spread you put on for us in Singapore,” Commander David Pimpo, the Reagan’s supply officer, emailed Francis on March 30.

In May, the Reagan strike group ended its mission in the Gulf and returned to Southeast Asia. Francis was planning to welcome the Reagan with another dinner at its next port of call in Kuala Lumpur. But Miller’s chief of staff emailed with discouraging news: Navy spoilsports were asking legalistic questions “that may prevent us from accepting your generous offers.”

Undeterred, Francis dusted off an old trick. Under federal ethics regulations, Navy personnel were allowed—and often expected—to attend formal events hosted by foreign governments. He went forward with his plans for a ritzy dinner, but in addition to the Americans, he invited a handful of officers from the Royal Malaysian Navy and designated them the official hosts. The Malaysian Navy was perpetually strapped for cash and couldn’t afford fancy business meals, so its officers were happy to wink and nod at the arrangement.

The June 4 steak-and-lobster dinner and cocktail reception took place at the Chalet, Francis’s favorite restaurant in Kuala Lumpur. Miller and sixteen officers from the Reagan strike group attended, along with Captain Claudia Risner, the U.S. naval attaché to Malaysia. While Francis pretended the Malaysian government was hosting such events, Risner said she always made it “crystal clear” to visiting U.S. Navy officers that Glenn Defense was really footing the bill.

“I remember a couple of [admirals] saying, ‘Wow, this is really nice of the Malaysian Navy to host this.’ And I said, ‘the Malaysian Navy is not hosting this.’ I said, ‘The husbanding agent you pay is hosting this,’ ” Risner recalled. Still, she said, nobody seemed bothered. “It’s not like they bolted from the room or called the cops or anything.”

The cost of the Kuala Lumpur dinner exceeded $1,000 per person. In keeping with their Don’t Ask, Don’t Tell agreement, Miller wrote a personal check to reimburse Francis for his and his officers’ share: $50 a head. “Thanks again for the magnificent support,” the admiral added in a handwritten note. He also praised Glenn Defense in another effusive Bravo Zulu message: “Mr. Francis can truly do it all—throughout our deployment no one has come even close to his level of service.”



Miller and his staff had to rally quickly to regain their appetites. Seven days after the party in Malaysia, Francis hosted another epic dinner at the Reagan’s next port of call in Hong Kong.

Several Navy spouses had flown in to spend time with their husbands during the four-day port visit. Miller again reimbursed Francis for the meal at a rate of $50 per person, even though the total bill came to $23,061, about $769 per guest.

Glenn Defense went the extra mile to make the Hong Kong visit memorable in other ways. The company paid $28,000 for several wives of Reagan strike group officers to go on a sightseeing and shopping tour, picking them up from the airport in a caravan of Rolls-Royces. Glenn Defense also reserved luxury hotel suites for some officers and their spouses, covering about half of their lodging expenses.

“The service you provide is head and shoulders above all others,” Miller crowed to Francis in yet another Bravo Zulu message.

Francis’s business was flourishing, and his entertainment expenses were a pittance compared with the husbanding revenue Glenn Defense was collecting from the Navy. A four-day port visit by an aircraft carrier strike group could generate more than $1 million for the company, plus however much extra Francis could earn from phony bills.

During the Reagan’s last day in port in Hong Kong, for example, Glenn Defense submitted a fraudulent invoice for removing 1.2 million gallons of sewage from the aircraft carrier, far more than its tanks could hold. Lieutenant David Schaus, a junior officer with the Navy’s Ship Support Office in Hong Kong, flagged the charges and determined Glenn Defense had overbilled the carrier by $68,000.

It wasn’t the first time that Schaus had caught Glenn Defense cheating. Two years earlier, he had confronted Francis about another impossibly high wastewater bill. “He became furious, accusing me of calling him a liar. And I told him, ‘I am calling you a liar,’ ” Schaus recalled. “He said, ‘Lieutenants don’t tell me what to do. Do you know who I am?’ He was being profane and banging on the table.”

Schaus lost that argument after Francis complained to his superiors, who told the lieutenant to back off. This time, Schaus escalated matters by reporting the Reagan’s bogus sewage bill to the Naval Criminal Investigative Service.

An NCIS agent reviewed the invoices and confirmed Schaus’s allegations. But the agent inexplicably closed the case and wrote a note saying the findings would be referred to the Reagan’s commanding officer, Captain Terry Kraft, one of the guests at Francis’s $23,000 dinner. Nothing happened after that. (Kraft said he was never informed about the NCIS investigation.)

Schaus was stunned that NCIS would let Glenn Defense slide but relearned a harsh lesson: Francis had powerful friends inside the Navy who would protect him. Glenn Defense “was rotten from the first day I worked with them in 2004, and everyone knew they were rotten,” he recalled. “Everyone knew what was going on, and it was just accepted as the way it was. If you tried to rock the boat, you got squashed.”

Tellingly, nobody in the Reagan’s supply department complained about the overbilling. When the ship returned to Hong Kong nine months later, Commander Pimpo—the senior supply officer—emailed Francis to puff him up and see if he was game for another dinner.

“Leonard, you are already a legend in the RONALD REAGAN STRIKE GROUP. Everybody knows ‘Leonard’ and appreciates your professionalism and class,” he wrote. “You guys are the best we’ve ever seen… by a long shot.”

Francis fulfilled their expectations. On March 10, 2007, he hosted Pimpo and seventeen others from the Reagan for an eight-course spectacle at Spoon, a restaurant at the InterContinental Hotel run by renowned chef Alain Ducasse.

The Malaysian contractor and his beautiful wife greeted the Americans in a private banquet room with caviar appetizers and crystal goblets of Dom Pérignon. They dined on white-asparagus custard, Maine lobster with coral sauce, black truffles, Angus tenderloin “Rossini” style, and Pont-Neuf potatoes. Each course was paired with a different French wine.

Their bellies full, the Reagan officers sipped brandy and blew smoke rings from Cohiba cigars. They also autographed a tasseled copy of the menu in homage to their hosts. “Leonard & Teresa—The only thing more precious than this meal is your friendship! Thank you for all you do! God bless,” Pimpo scribbled.

As had become customary, the Navy officers paid $50 per person. Francis happily covered the rest of the $20,962 bill. He was investing in relationships with officers with bright futures. In the years ahead, five of his guests from the Hong Kong dinner would become admirals.

Among them was Captain Michael Gilday, the commodore of a destroyer squadron who later rose through the ranks to become the chief of naval operations, the highest-ranking admiral in the Navy. “Thank you for an amazing night!” Gilday wrote to Francis on the commemorative menu. His attendance would remain a secret for the rest of his military career.


	
I. Francis divorced his first wife, Deanna, in the 1990s. “Hey, I’m a butterfly and there’s so much out there,” he explained. “Not that I’m a bad husband. It’s just that women can’t keep up with me.”

	
II. A single, bite-sized appetizer—or “mouth amuser” in French.

	
III. A flat, spiny fish with creamy white flesh, served pan-fried or grilled.
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